

# Does NGO Aid Go to the Poor? Empirical Evidence from Europe

Gilles Nancy and Boriana Yontcheva

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

© 2006 International Monetary Fund

### **IMF Working Paper**

#### IMF Institute

# Does NGO Aid Go to the Poor? Empirical Evidence from Europe

Prepared by Gilles Nancy and Boriana Yontcheva<sup>1</sup>

Authorized for distribution by Roland Daumont

February 2006

Abstract

**This Working Paper should not be reported as representing the views of the IMF.** The views expressed in this Working Paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the IMF or IMF policy. Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to further debate.

This paper studies the aid allocation of European nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). Once population is controlled for, poverty consistently appears as the main worldwide determinant of NGO aid allocation. NGOs do not respond to strategic considerations. Their funding source does not seem to exert a great influence on their aid allocation decision. We also find differences across regions. Militarization and the political nature of the regime of the recipient country affect aid allocation in the Middle East. Life expectancy influences aid allocation in countries in the Western Hemisphere and the Middle East.

JEL Classification Numbers: C25, F35

Keywords: Official development aid, NGOs

Author(s) E-Mail Address: nancy@univ-aix.fr, byontcheva@imf.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Gilles Nancy is Professor of Economics at the University of Aix-en-Provence, France. Boriana Yontcheva is an economist at the IMF Institute. We gratefully acknowledge the assistance of France Marion, Lisbeth Ekelof and César-Luis Valor-Arce, European Commission who provided key data for this research. We are indebted to Badi Baltagi for guidance and discussions on the econometrics of this paper. Jean Salvati provided invaluable technical assistance. Andrew Feltenstein, Francoise Le Gall, Irina Tytell and participants at an IMF Institute seminar provided many useful suggestions. Errors are solely ours.

Contents
----------

I. Introduction	3
II. What Do We Learn from the Literature?	4
III. Dataset, Stylized Facts, and Methodology	6
A. Data on Nongovernmental Aid	6
B. Explanatory Variables	7
C. Stylized Facts	8
D. Methodology	10
IV. Results	11
A. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Worldwide and Regional Results	11
B. The Joint Effect of Militarization and Political Institutions	14
V. Conclusion	15
References	17
Appendixes	20
A. Countries in Sample by Region	20
B. Data Description and Sources	21
Tables	
1. Mean and Standard Deviation of Exogenous Variable by Region	9
2. Average NGO Aid by Region As a Percentage of Total Sample Aid	9
3. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Worldwide Results	11
4. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Regional Results	13
5. The Joint Effect of Militarization and Political Institutions	15

# Figures

1. NGO Aid and Poverty in the Middle East	14
-------------------------------------------	----

# Page

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Aid is back on the international agenda. After more than a decade of aid fatigue, the international community envisages substantial increases in aid flows to poor countries in Africa and parts of Latin America and Asia.<sup>2</sup> While a generous scaling-up of foreign aid seems an indispensable condition for reducing poverty and achieving global prosperity, history has shown that it is not sufficient.

Why foreign aid has failed to attain development objectives can be approached from two different but not incompatible perspectives. On the one hand, some argue that foreign aid is partially wasted by recipient governments and inherently poses incentive problems and produces negative externalities, which, in turn, diminish its effectiveness. On the other hand, the allocation of aid by donor countries has also been questioned. If donors allocate aid according to some strategic considerations and do not respond to the need of beneficiaries, why should we expect improved growth or poverty reduction in recipient countries?

With regard to aid allocation, there is a general consensus in the literature that official development assistance is allocated mostly according to political, economic, and strategic considerations.<sup>3</sup> Most of the empirical analyses of aid patterns conducted in the last 30 years have concluded that bilateral donors distribute aid mainly to former colonies, to countries with which they have economic ties, or to political partners (Alesina and Dollar, 2000). Multilateral aid seems to give more weight to the needs of recipients, but it is not immune from political considerations.

Meanwhile, in the last 20 years, new actors have emerged on the development scene. Private, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) are channeling an increasing share of development assistance. According to their proponents, NGOs care about the most vulnerable populations and represent the voices of the poor. Their motivation is meant to be humanitarian and not to follow any reasons of state. As NGOs expand, however, they are increasingly funded by institutional donors, and concerns have been voiced about the impact of donor funding on NGOs' behavior. While many authors consider this last issue, to the best of our knowledge, there is not yet any cross-country empirical evidence on the actual determinants of nongovernmental aid flows. While the literature on official aid shows that the distribution of ODA is biased by the strategic interests of donor countries, we need to verify if NGOs do better.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Two influential reports—the United Nations Millennium Project Report (the "Sachs Report") and the Commission for Africa Report (the "Blair Report")—advocate sizable increases in aid, in order to reach the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and reduce poverty. For details on the MDGs and the definitions of the concepts used, see United Nations (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Official development assistance (ODA) is defined by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) as aid flows to developing countries, which are provided by official agencies, with the promotion of the economic development and welfare of developing countries as their main objective; and are concessional in character and convey a grant element of at least 25 percent.

This paper complements both the literature on aid determinants and that on nongovernmental aid by examining to whom and why NGOs distribute aid. We look for factors explaining an NGO's decision to allocate aid to a given beneficiary. In particular, we check whether NGOs respond to variables representing the recipients' needs such as poverty and life expectancy. We also examine whether the political and institutional environment matters and consider whether NGOs are influenced by strategic considerations. In particular, we are interested in whether NGOs' decision making could be affected by their funding sources. We also investigate whether there are regional differences in the aid allocation decision.

Our results show that NGOs allocate aid mostly according to the needs of their beneficiaries. Once population is controlled for, poverty consistently appears as the main worldwide determinant of NGO aid allocation. NGOs do not respond to strategic considerations. Their funding source does not seem to exert a great influence on their aid allocation decision. We also find differences across regions. Militarization and the political nature of the regime of the recipient country affect aid allocation in the Middle East. Life expectancy influences aid allocation in countries in the Western Hemisphere and the Middle East.

The paper is organized as follows. Section II presents the literature on foreign aid allocation. Section III describes our dataset and the econometric methods we use. Section IV presents NGO aid allocation across countries. Section V concludes.

# **II.** WHAT DO WE LEARN FROM THE LITERATURE?

The question about the underlying motivation of donors has been posed since the early years of aid flows. McKinley and Little (1977, 1978a, 1978b) test the "recipient needs" model. This model adopts, as a starting point, the officially proclaimed objective of financial assistance by industrial nations, which is mostly to promote economic development and reduce poverty in needy countries. Therefore, the model assumes that aid should flow to receiving countries according to their needs, reflected by their degree of underdevelopment. Accordingly, geographical aid distribution is expected to follow objective development requirements of these countries. Typical need indicators used to explain country allocations of aid are per capita income levels (Dudley and Montmarquette, 1976), life expectancy, literacy rates, caloric intake (McKinley and Little, 1977) or combinations of various such indicators aimed at establishing summary measures of the quality of life in recipient countries.<sup>4</sup> Unfortunately, irrespective of the variety of indicators taken into consideration, most empirical tests of the recipient needs model failed to explain the aid distribution of most bilateral donors.

As trying to explain aid flows through the needs of beneficiary countries alone gave poor results, Dudley and Montmarquette (1976) took into account strategic variables. They questioned the assumption that donors' concerns are only of an altruistic nature. Their seminal paper develops a hybrid model where donors are also concerned with their own strategic interest and provide aid according to a geographical distribution that takes into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As noted by Grilli and Riess (1992), no uniform set of factors has emerged from these analyses as best representing the needs of the recipients.

account not only the needs of the beneficiaries, but also the donors' political, commercial, or other strategically minded interests. Their work showed that "among the variables which determine [the geographical distribution of aid by donor countries] the economic links, represented by lagged exports from the donor to the recipient proved to be very important" (Dudley and Montmarquette, 1976, p. 141).

Strategic variables can be measured by various indicators. Dudley and Montmarquette (1976) adopt the donor's exports to the recipient country, while Maizels and Nissanke (1984) and Gounder (1994) take the donor's investment in the recipient country as a proxy for its interests. McKinley and Little (1978a and 1978b) consider the political association between donors and recipient countries. More recent work confirms the importance of strategic variables. Grilli and Riess (1992) specify a hybrid model that takes into account both types of variables (strategic and altruistic) and apply it to European Community (EC) aid distribution where aid from the EC depends positively both on the need of the recipient and the commercial interest of the European donor. They determine that bilateral European aid depends mostly on exports from the EC to developing countries, while multilateral aid distribution is more influenced by the needs of recipients, proxied by a human development index and the debt level. Alesina and Dollar (2000) find evidence that bilateral aid patterns are dictated by political and strategic considerations, such as colonial history and UN votes, and that donor governments differ substantially in their degree of altruism. Collier and Dollar (2002) conclude that actual bilateral aid allocation is not efficient from a poverty-reduction point of view.

All the above-mentioned empirical analyses of aid allocation are concerned with *official* aid, considering mostly aid from bilateral donors or, more rarely, from multilateral institutions to governments of recipient countries. However, in the last 20 years, we have seen the emergence of a new category of actors on the foreign aid scene. As noted by Meyer (1995), there has been an intensified participation of NGOs in ODA. NGOs have prospered with the "associetal revolution" (Salamon, 1994, p. 109). Their number has grown exponentially; the size of some of them makes them significant players in social welfare and employment markets at the national level; the funding they attract has increased enormously and their visibility with the general public has never been higher. Even though available data are fragmented, all sources point toward an increase in NGOs' actions. A report from the OECD indicates that "resources channeled through NGOs in all OECD Member countries rose from 0.2 percent of the total bilateral ODA of DAC [Development Assistance Committee] Members in 1970 to 17 percent in 1996 — to reach, in absolute terms, an amount equal to twice the total 1996 ODA of the United Kingdom, the DAC's sixth largest donor by volume" (Woods, 2003, p. 9).

The rise of NGOs is not an accident. While it reflects private initiative and voluntary action, it also follows an increase in popularity of NGOs with governments and official aid agencies and the willingness of donors to make funds available to them. Indeed, as NGOs are expanding, many of them have switched from being primarily funded by private donors to being essentially funded by institutional donors. Two main reasons can explain why more and more public funds are channeled through NGOs. First, official agencies support NGOs in providing welfare services because of their assumed cost-effectiveness in reaching the poorest (Meyer, 1995). Second, NGOs are also seen as representative of the poor and most vulnerable. The relationship with the "people" is seen as giving them greater public

legitimacy than some governments, while their managerial features are seen as permitting private sector levels of cost-control and efficiency.

However, while NGOs' actions are expanding, many authors are concerned by the actual contribution that NGOs are making to development; in particular, questions have been raised about their legitimacy and about their relations with their funding sources. Edwards and Hulme (1994 and 1996) present a detailed analysis of how the donor and NGOs' relationships could compromise the work of civil organizations or modify their approaches. Smillie (2000) fears that NGOs become mere implementers of donors' policies. Jack (2001) conceptualizes the relationships between NGOs, states, and donors. Gauri and Fruttero (2003) analyze and test NGO project allocation across Bangladesh and show that NGOs' spatial project localization across Bangladeshi provinces is influenced by a concern for obtaining donor funding.

We contribute both to the empirical aid allocation literature and to the above-mentioned debate through a cross-country analysis of NGO aid allocation, verifying whether NGO allocation decisions depend on the need of their beneficiaries or on strategic variables. We test for the potential influence exerted by the institutional donor funding them. We also assess the impact of the institutional setting of the recipient country as we control for militarization and democracy.

# III. DATASET, STYLIZED FACTS, AND METHODOLOGY

# A. Data on Nongovernmental Aid

The objective of this paper is to identify the determinants of NGO development aid.<sup>5</sup> Our first task was to identify and collect data that would reflect the aid allocation decision of NGOs. We needed a dependent variable that represents the decision taken by international NGOs on to whom to give aid. However, since NGOs are private and extremely diversified organizations, there is no global database reporting the geographical destination of nongovernmental aid flows; comprehensive and precise data on all NGOs are simply not available. Ideally, we would have liked to conduct a survey among NGOs but such a compilation would have been beyond the scope of our research. We chose instead to build a database based upon data collected from institutional donors supporting NGO work. Specifically, we use data obtained from the European Commission and representing the projects *proposed* by European NGOs and *cofinanced* by the European Union (EU). While those aid flows do not cover all actions implemented by all European NGOs, we believe that analyzing this subset of NGO aid should help unveil their preferences in aid allocation. We are aware that this limits the conclusion of our study to European NGOs funded by the EU, but given the lack of general data, this is a first step in conducting empirical analysis of nongovernmental aid allocation. As the main institutional donor funding NGO activities, the EU has a long history of collaboration with nongovernmental organizations and has designed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We distinguish between development and humanitarian aid. We chose to focus on the former type of aid as the latter is mostly driven by emergency situations, and its allocation pattern is strongly correlated to shocks and natural or artificial disasters.

a specific budget line (B 6-7000) to fund projects proposed by NGOs.<sup>6</sup> Despite the fact that funds are provided by the EU, this budget line should be a good indicator of NGO choices as cofinancing is a cooperation mode between the donor and the NGO based on letting the NGO decide about aid destination in terms of project choices and countries. According to Cox and Koning's 1997 study on the relationship between NGOs and the European Commission, NGO aid allocation does not follow any specific EU official policy. However, even if we believe that the European Commission does not impose its vision on the proposed projects, there could be a self-selection bias where NGOs applying for funding propose only projects likely to receiving the appropriate financing. Gauri and Fruttero (2003) show that, in Bangladesh, NGOs decide to implement their project in the regions likely to please the institutional donors that are funding them. Therefore, we need to control for potential EU influence. We do so by including EU official multilateral aid to governments as a regressor.

We use data reported by the European Commission. We convert the flows to constant U.S. dollars. Our sample covers the 1990 to 1999 period and has been restricted to 78 recipient countries due to missing observations for key exogenous variables (see Appendix A for the country list). As we are interested in NGOs' intentions, we chose aid commitments as our dependent variable.<sup>7</sup> Commitments truly describe the allocation process while being untainted by the substantial volatility and instability found in aid disbursements.<sup>8</sup>

Our dependent variable is aid in absolute terms rather than per capita. While the literature is divided on this subject, with many studies focusing on per capita aid, we follow Feeny and McGillivray (2001), focusing on the decision variable most widely used by practitioners. Looking at annual reports, we can see that NGOs report aid in absolute terms. Obviously, this does not preclude that population should be controlled for, as it is an evident measure of the size of recipients' need.

# **B.** Explanatory Variables

As our aim is to understand NGOs' decisions on aid allocation across beneficiary countries, we apply a hybrid model integrating three different sets of variables. On the one hand, we want to verify whether need variables explain to whom NGOs give aid. On the other hand, we want to assess the impact of the political and institutional environment of the countries, trying to determine whether NGOs work more in democratic regimes. Finally, we will

<sup>8</sup> The volatility of disbursements relative to donors' annual commitments is a multidimensional issue reflecting probably both failure of donors to abide by their commitments, administrative hurdles, and lack of recipient cooperation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For more information on the specificity of EU-NGO cooperation, see Cox and Koning (1997) and Yontcheva (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Commitments are the amount the donor agrees to make available to the recipient during the relevant period. Disbursements are the actual amount of aid transferred from donor to recipient.

control for two strategic variables: (i) whether the recipient countries are economically close to NGOs' region of origin (here, Europe); and (ii) the influence of NGOs' funding source.

We adopt the following measures of the development needs of receiving countries: (i) the national poverty level, measured by the percentage of people living below the national poverty line; and (ii) life expectancy at birth in years, which reflects the level of health care. We use data from the World Bank (*World Development Indicators*).

Following Alesina and Dollar (2000), we assess whether the aid allocation decision is affected by recipient country institutions and governance. Our indicator of good governance is a variable 'Political Score' based on an index called Overall Polity Score of the Country Indicators for Foreign Policy (CIFP) developed by the Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade. This is a global rank-based index of the democracy score (see Appendix B). On a nine-point scale, 1 is considered "strongly democratic," and 9 "strongly autocratic." Militarization of the country is measured by a ratio of military personnel as a percentage of labor force (*World Development Indicators*); this variable reflects many possible causes of potential domestic and foreign instability.

To integrate an indicator of strategic interest of the donors, we consider the most commonly used index of commercial partnership: the imports of the recipient from the donor country or region, here the EU. Our explanatory variable is the ratio of the recipients' imports from the EU to total imports. To measure the potential influence of the EU as a funding source, we use official multilateral aid from the EU. We add four regional dummies distinguishing between countries from Africa, the Western Hemisphere, Asia, and the Middle East. For more details on the definition of the variables and their sources, see Appendix B. We control for population.

# C. Stylized Facts

Table 1 below indicates, per region, the mean over the period and the standard deviation of each exogenous variable. For the list of countries in the sample and in each region, see Appendix A.

		Poverty	Life Expectancy	Militarization	Political Score	EU Imports
Entire sample	mean	36.12	58.79	1.13	4.04	31.70
	s.d.	16.57	10.16	1.58	1.83	19.58
Africa	mean	44.15	49.95	0.57	4.53	44.31
	s.d.	17.02	6.40	0.41	1.72	14.19
Western						
Hemisphere	mean	30.77	68.01	0.95	2.63	15.17
	s.d.	12.05	5.46	0.43	1.18	6.11
Middle East	mean	19.86	68.34	4.38	5.11	52.34
	s.d.	11.96	3.57	3.35	1.81	15.36
Asia	mean	33.33	61.71	0.92	4.30	12.88
	s.d.	13.29	6.18	0.69	1.90	6.77

Table 1 Mean au	nd Standard Deviation	of Exogenous	Variable by Region
Tuble 1. Micult ul	ia Standard Deviation	of Enogenous	vulluolo oy Region

Note that the four regions present rather different characteristics. Compared to the average level in our sample, Africa is a poorer region, with lower life expectancy, a slightly worse political score and a lower militarization level. The least number of people living below the national poverty line can be found in the Middle East, a region that has the highest militarization ratio, the worse political score, but also the longest life expectancy. As regions differ, we will consider NGOs' allocation decision not only for the entire sample, but also within each region.

Table 2 below shows the regional repartition of NGO aid in our sample. In terms of aid per capita, both Africa and the Western Hemisphere receive a share of aid bigger than their share of world population. Asia received less aid per capita than the rest of the world, while representing more than 72 percent of the sample's population. On a per country basis, the Western Hemisphere region includes fewer countries than Africa, but receives a bigger aid share.

T-1-1- 7 /		A : 1 1 D .		D	T-4-1 C	
Ianie / A	average Numu	$A_{10} \text{ by Re}$	JION ASSI	Percentage of	I OTAL Nam	nie Ald
1 uoio 2. 1	110105011000	I HIG UY HOY		cicontage of	1 Otur Dun	ipic rina

	Share of World	Number of	
	Population	Recipient Countries	Share of Received NGO Aid
Africa	12.42%	35	32.52%
Western Hemisphere	11.50%	21	44.45%
Middle East	3.72%	8	4.14%
Asia	72.36%	14	18.89%

#### **D.** Methodology

We examine why and to whom NGOs give aid by estimating variants of the following regression:

$$Aid_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 NEED_{jit} + \beta_2 POL_{it} + \beta_3 MIL_{it} + \beta_4 STRAT_{it} + pop_{it} + \mu_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1)

where *i* indexes countries; *t* indexes time; *NEEDj* is a measure of the recipient country development needs ( $j \in [$ poverty, life expectancy ]); *POL* is an index of democracy; *MIL* measures the militarization of the recipient country, *STRAT<sub>j</sub>* is a measure of strategic interest ( $j \in [$ import from EU, official multilateral EU aid]);  $\mu_I$  is the unobserved country-specific effect; and  $\varepsilon_{it}$  is a time-varying error term.

In practice, in allocating their aid budgets or in applying for funding, decision makers often dispose of information from the year prior to that for which the aid is allocated. Indeed, except for humanitarian operations, which can benefit from emergency procedures, project approval and budgetary decisions can take many months. Moreover, information from the field can also take time to become accessible to aid agencies. Therefore, we use lagged right-hand side variables, except for EU multilateral aid, assuming that within the same organization, information about aid allocation from the department in charge of multilateral aid is rapidly available to the department in charge of NGO support.

We first estimate equation (1) with a one-way error component static random effects model. We test our equation for serial correlation and found none. We choose to characterize the individual-specific component as each individual's realization of a random variable that is specific to him. As our dependent variable is a *decision* by an NGO to allocate aid in a specific way to a specific destination, we follow Nerlove and Balestra (1996) who emphasize Haavelmo's (1994) view that a population "consists not of an infinity of individuals, in general, but an infinity of decisions" that each individual may take. In our case, as we are, in effect, drawing 700 individual decisions randomly from the larger population of all NGO decisions, we consider the random effect model to be an appropriate specification.

However, as the random effects model assumes that there is no correlation between individual effects and the regressors, it may suffer from inconsistency. Therefore, in addition, we also consider consistent albeit less efficient estimators. The fixed effect estimator might be consistent but is a poor choice for our specification, as it does not allow estimating time invariant variables of interest such as the average poverty headcount in a country. Moreover, as many of our regressors are development indicators, they vary little over time and estimators based on first-differencing are inappropriate and inefficient. Hence, we follow Arrellano and Bover (1995), adopting a Generalized Method of Moments (GMM) system estimator that not only use the equation in first differences but also instruments the equation in levels. We present one-step and two-step system GMM for our base specification. However, for our regressions over smaller regional sub-samples, we keep only one-step GMM results for which inference based on the asymptotic variance matrix has been found to be more reliable than for the asymptotically more efficient two-step estimator.<sup>9</sup> Simulation evidence suggests that the "asymptotic standard errors tend to be much too small or asymptotic t-ratios much too big for the two-step estimators in sample sizes where the equivalent tests based on the one-step estimator are quite accurate."<sup>10</sup>

#### **IV. RESULTS**

#### A. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Worldwide and Regional Results

Table 3 below presents our base specification estimated over our entire sample. The dependent variable is the log of constant NGO aid flow per country. Our base specification explains NGO aid by the militarization of the recipient country, its political score (a high score indicates a more autocratic regime), life expectancy, poverty, population, multilateral EU aid to governments of recipient countries and the imports of the recipient country from the EU. We add regional and year dummies.

	RE	RE	FE	GMM SYS-2	GMM SYS-1
Life expectancy	-0.575	-0.644	-0.348	-0.437	-0.612
	[0.5342]	[0.4966]	[0.7905]	[0.6940]	[0.3608]
Imports from EU	0.179	0.222	0.061	0.325	0.249
	[0.4258]	[0.3510]	[0.8291]	[0.2249]	[0.0969]
Militarization	0.012	0.012	-0.266	0.138	0.112
	[0.9364]	[0.9390]	[0.3415]	[0.3910]	[0.1846]
Poverty	0.925	0.931		0.966	1.012
	[0.0001]	[0.0001]		[0.0006]	[0.0000]
Policy score	-0.055	-0.094	0.088	-0.301	-0.228
	[0.6643]	[0.4388]	[0.6101]	[0.0622]	[0.0730]
Population	0.589	0.603	-0.688	0.625	0.622
	[0.0000]	[0.0000]	[0.8078]	[0.0000]	[0.0000]
EU official aid	-0.019	-0.027	-0.067	-0.036	-0.035
	[0.5599]	[0.4005]	[0.0940]	[0.3798]	[0.4993]
Africa	0.254	0.212		0.209	0.225
	[0.6393]	[0.7078]		[0.7212]	[0.5088]
Western Hemisphere	1.404	1.396		1.419	1.315
	[0.0002]	[0.0003]		[0.0007]	[0.0000]
Middle East	0.322	0.299		-0.319	0.256
	[0.6018]	[0.6504]		[0.6803]	[0.4784]
Year effects	no	yes	yes	Yes	yes
Constant	-3.458	-3.371	2.628	-4.271	-3.685
	[0.4127]	[0.4330]	[0.7480]	[0.4164]	[0.2194]
Observations	594	594	594	594	594
Number of countries	78	78	78	78	78

Table 3. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Worldwide Results

Robust p values in brackets.

<sup>10</sup> Bond (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Blundell and Bond (1999).

Columns 1 and 2 present our base specification without and with year effects using a random effect estimator. Column 3 (FE) reports results obtained by the fixed effect estimator. Column 4 presents two-step GMM results and column 5 reports one-step GMM results. The fixed effect estimator is a poor estimator given the little or no time-variance among many of our regressors.

Once population is controlled for, NGO aid appears as driven mostly by poverty. Poverty explains aid allocation regardless of the estimator used. If poverty increases by 1 standard deviation, NGO aid is raised by more or less 1 standard deviation as well—this result is consistent across estimators. Our dummy "Western Hemisphere" is significant, as could be expected by Table 2.

Both strategic variables are mostly insignificant—except for the fixed effect estimation where it appears to be mildly significant and presents a very small and negative coefficient. Countries that receive 1 standard deviation less official European aid will receive 0.06 standard deviations more NGO aid. It appears that, while getting EU financing, NGOs remain rather independent in their allocation decision or even allocate their aid to countries that receive less official aid. This is an important result as it downplays the concerns expressed in the literature about the negative impact of a close relationship between institutional donors and NGOs. It indicates that, even if funded by official sources, NGOs do not become mere subcontractors, implementing donors' policies.

As can be seen from Table 3, all estimators tend to point to the same results. While we cannot rule out a bias in the random effect estimation, we are reassured that consistent estimators give us similar results. For the expositional clarity, all tables below report only the results obtained using a random effect estimator.

Table 4 below presents the results we obtained when estimating our model on regional subsamples.

Dependent Variable: NGO Aid	Africa	Western Hemisphere	Middle East	Asia	
Life expectancy	0.276	-5.61	-8.652	-1.362	
	[0.8161]	[0.0011]***	[0.0083]***	[0.6437]	
Imports from EU	0.299	-0.02	0.232	0.002	
	[0.4030]	[0.9562]	[0.8270]	[0.9972]	
Militarization	-0.08	0.595	-1.211	0.256	
	[0.6591]	[0.0365]**	[0.0070]***	[0.4725]	
Poverty	0.951	0.475	1.071	1.212	
	[0.0062]***	[0.3260]	[0.0053]***	[0.0415]**	
Political score	-0.265	-0.148	-1.365	0.042	
	[0.2079]	[0.5556]	[0.0047]***	[0.9202]	
Population	0.638	0.857	-0.726	0.676	
	[0.0000]***	[0.0000]***	[0.0016]***	[0.0011]***	
EU official aid	-0.029	0.043	-0.059	-0.086	
	[0.6738]	[0.4637]	[0.5998]	[0.4283]	
Year effects	Yes	yes	yes	yes	
Constant	-7.17	20.696	37.793	-1.202	
	[0.1399]	[0.0063]***	[0.0102]**	[0.9236]	
Observations	268	158	59	109	
Number of countries	35	21	8	14	

Table 4. Determinants of NGO Aid Allocation: Regional Results

Robust p values in brackets.

\* significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%.

As for our entire sample, poverty explains aid allocation in all regions but in the Western Hemisphere, where life expectancy takes over as the explanatory need variable. If poverty increases by 1 standard deviation, NGO aid is raised by more or less 1 standard deviation as well—this result is consistent across regions.

Both strategic variables (imports from the EU and EU official aid) remain insignificant for all regional sub samples.

Life expectancy is a determinant for aid allocation within the Western Hemisphere and the Middle East. The elasticity of aid with respect to life expectancy is rather large as a reduction in life expectancy of 1 percent increases NGO aid by more than 5 percent in the Western Hemisphere and by more than 8 percent in the Middle East. As seen in Table 1, those two regions have already achieved relatively long life expectancy and a further improvement in health conditions seems to lead to a resource reallocation.

Militarization is significant both in the Middle East and the Western Hemisphere but the coefficients have a different sign. This variable is difficult to interpret, as it can be the outcome of many different conditions. A high level of militarization can reflect domestic or cross border troubles that can potentially be accompanied by a worsening of civilians' living

conditions and therefore justify NGOs' decision to allocate more aid. It could also reflect a military regime, a condition that would lead us to expect a lower level of NGO involvement. The sign of the coefficient could reflect either condition. In order to distinguish between possible situations, we created a composite variable MIL-POL to capture the joint effect of militarization and political conditions. A higher MIL-POL would indicate a highly militarized and autocratic regime and, therefore, we unambiguously expect less NGO involvement and a negative sign.

Population behaves as expected, except in the Middle East, where it presents an unexpected negative sign, but this can be explained by the weight of Lebanon in the aid allocation. As can be seen in Figure 1 below, Lebanon receives the most NGO aid within the region while being a relatively small country in terms of population; it also has the most inhabitants living below the national poverty line in the region.





Source: World Development Indicators and European Commission.

# B. The Joint Effect of Militarization and Political Institutions

Table 5 below presents the previous regression augmented by the MIL-POL variable. All results obtained from our base specification remain. Poverty remains consistently a driving force for NGO aid allocation. All variables behave as in our above-presented base specification. The MIL-POL variable is significant for allocation of aid to the Middle East. It presents the expected sign, indicating that NGOs tend to avoid working in highly autocratic and militarized countries. Moreover, the impact of those conditions on aid allocation is rather large. A 1 percent increase in MIL-POL will reduce NGO aid allocation to the Middle East by more than 3 percent. On the basis of the entire sample, MIL-POL is mildly significant with the expected sign.

Dependent Variable: NGO Aid	World	Africa	Western Hemisphere	Middle East	Asia
Life expectancy	-0.717	0.203	-5.509	-10.472	-1.192
	[0.4465]	[0.8668]	[0.0014]***	[0.0003]***	[0.6635]
Imports from EU	0.231	0.317	-0.067	0.31	-0.016
	[0.2974]	[0.3822]	[0.8584]	[0.7381]	[0.9724]
Militarization	0.212	0.118	0.678	1.908	0.645
	[0.2407]	[0.5956]	[0.0571]*	[0.1816]	[0.2805]
Poverty	0.945	0.959	0.492	1.53	1.212
	[0.0002]***	[0.0063]***	[0.3228]	[0.0002]***	[0.0177]**
Political score	0.06	-0.092	-0.066	1.403	0.298
	[0.7278]	[0.7216]	[0.8200]	[0.3122]	[0.6128]
Population	0.608	0.638	0.87	-0.773	0.687
1	[0.0000]***	[0.0000]***	[0.0000]***	[0.0003]***	[0.0002]***
EU official aid	-0.029	-0.032	0.04	-0.008	-0.092
	[0.4042]	[0.6423]	[0.4980]	[0.9398]	[0.3786]
MIL-POL	-0.222	-0.224	-0.122	-3.279	-0.375
	[0.1127]	[0.2093]	[0.6375]	[0.0234]**	[0.5040]
Africa	0.184				
	[0.7545]				
Western Hemisphere	1.386				
_	[0.0001]***				
Middle East	0.363				
	[0.5639]				
Year effects	yes	Yes	yes	yes	Yes
Constant	-3.092	-6.506	20.433	44.739	-1.327
	[0.4434]	[0.1905]	[0.0071]***	[0.0007]***	[0.9087]
Observations	594	268	158	59	109
Number of countries	78	35	21	8	14

Table 5. The Joint Effect of Militarization and Political Institutions

Robust p values in brackets.

\* significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%.

#### V. CONCLUSION

This paper brings forward one appropriate response to the important issue of whether NGO aid allocation is development oriented or whether it is influenced by strategic considerations, notably by their relationship with institutional donors. On the one hand, research on the motivations underlying aid allocation of donors has so far taken into account only bilateral and multilateral aid flows. On the other hand, the literature on nongovernmental aid has expressed concerns about the potential consequence of increased NGO funding by official donors as this could modify NGOs' priorities. This paper complements both literature strands as we conduct an empirical analysis of European NGO aid allocation over 9 years and 78 recipient countries.

We test NGOs' aid distribution for variables representing the needs of the recipient country, such as poverty levels and life expectancy as well as for variables representing some potential strategic interest. In particular, we are interested in identifying whether NGOs are

influenced by the funding source. We also test for militarization and the political state of the recipient country. Our findings indicate that NGOs are more likely to intervene in poor countries with low life expectancy. NGOs appear rather immune to strategic considerations, as the influence of the institutional donor that funds them is very weak, and as they don't really react to the commercial closeness between the recipient country and their region of origin. Less democratic and highly militarized countries are less likely to benefit from NGO aid. We identified differences in the motivating factors across regions.

On the whole, NGOs seem relatively immune to strategic interests and seem to keep up their promise of being advocates of the poor and vulnerable.

#### REFERENCES

- Alesina, A., and D. Dollar, 2000, "Who Gives Foreign Aid to Whom and Why?" *Journal of Economic Growth*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 33–63.
- Alesina, A., and B. Weber, 2002, "Do Corrupt Governments Receive Less Foreign Aid?" *American Economic Review*, Vol. 92, No. 4, pp. 1126–38.
- Arellano, M. and O. Bover, 1995, "Another Look at the Instrumental Variable Estimation of Error-Components Models," *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 68, No. 1, pp. 29–52.
- Blundell, Richard, and Stephen Bond, 1999, "GMM Estimation with Persistent Panel Data: An Application to Production Functions," IFS Working Paper W99/04 (London: Institute for Fiscal Studies).
- Bond, Stephen, 2002, "Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide to Micro Data Methods and Practice," CeMAPP Working Paper CWP09/02 (London: Institute for Fiscal Studies).
- Collier, P., and D. Dollar, 2002, "Aid Allocation and Poverty Reduction," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 46, No. 8, pp. 1475–1500.
- Cox A., and A. Koning, 1997, "EC Cooperation With NGO: An Evaluation" (Brussels: European Commission).
- Davies, R., 1997 "Donor Information Demands and NGO Institutional Development," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 612–20.
- Dudley, L., and C. Montmarquette, 1976, "A Model of the Supply of Bilateral Foreign Aid," *American Economic Review*, Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 132–42.
- Edwards, M., and D. Hulme, 1994, "NGOs Performance and Accountability in the New World Order" (unpublished; Manchester: Institute for Development Policy and Management).
- ———, 1997, "Too Close for Comfort? The Impact of Official Aid on NGOs," in *NGOs, State and Donors, Too Close for Comfort?*, ed. by M. Edwards and D. Hume (London: Macmillan Press).
- Feeny, S., and M. McGillivray, 2001 "Aid and Public Sector Borrowing in Developing Countries," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 15, pp. 989–98.
- Frey, B.S., and F. Schneider, 1986, "Competing Models of International Lending Activity," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 20, pp. 225–45.
- Gauri, Varun, and Anna Fruttero, 2003, "Location Decisions and Nongovernmental Organization Motivation: Evidence from Rural Bangladesh," Policy Research Working Paper 3176 (Washington: World Bank).

- Gounder, R., 1994, "Empirical Results of Aid Motivations: Australia's Bilateral Aid Program," *World Development*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 99–113.
- Grilli, E., and M. Riess, 1992, "EC Aid to Associated Countries: Distribution and Determinants," *Review of World Economics*, Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, Vol. 128, No. 2, pp. 202–20.
- Haavelmo, T., 1994, "The Probability Approach in Econometrics" in *The history of econometrics*, Volume 2., ed. by Darnell, Adrian C. (United Kingdom: Elgar Reference Collection Aldershot).
- Howes, M., 1997, "NGOs and the Institutional Development of Membership Organizations: the Evidence from Six Cases," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 597–604.
- Jack, W., 2001, "Public Policy toward Nongovernmental Organizations in Developing Countries," The World Bank, Policy Research Working Paper Series 2639.
- James, R., 1997, "Organizational Strengthening of European NGOs," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 605–11.
- Lister, S., 2001, "The Consultation Practice of Northern NGOs: A Study of British Organizations in Guatemala," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 13, pp. 1071–82.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 2000, "Power in Partnership? An Analysis of an NGO's Relationships with its Partners," Journal of International Development, Vol. 12, pp. 227–39.
- Maizels, A., and M.K. Nissanke, 1984, "Motivations for Aid to Developing Countries," *World Development*, Vol. 12, No. 9, pp. 879–900.
- McKinley, R.D., and R. Little, 1977, "A Foreign Policy Model of U.S. Bilateral Aid Allocation," *World Politics*, Vol. 30, No. 1, pp. 58–86.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978a, "A Foreign Policy Model of the Distribution of British Bilateral Aid," *British Journal of Political Science*, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp. 313–32.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978b, "The French Aid Relationship: A Foreign Policy Model of the Distribution of French Bilateral Aid," *Development and Change*, Vol. 9, pp. 459–78.
- Meyer, Carrie A., 1995, "Opportunism and NGOs: Entrepreneurship and Green North-South Transfers," *World Development*, 23 (August), pp. 1277–89.
- Nerlove, M., and P. Balestra, 1996, "Formulation and Estimation of Econometric Models for Panel Data," in *The Econometrics of Panel Data: A Handbook of the Theory with Applications*, ed. by L. Matyas and P. Sevestre (Dordrecht; Boston and London: Kluwer Academic).

- Thomas, A., 2003, "NGOs' Role in Limiting National Sovereignty Over Environmental Resources of Global Significance," *Journal of International Development*, No. 15, pp. 215–29.
- Townsend, J.G., G. Porter, and E. Mawdsley, 2002, "The Role of Transnational Community of Non-Government Organizations: Governance or Poverty-Reduction?" *Journal of International Development*, No.14, pp. 829–39.
- Salamon, L., 1994, "The Rise of the Nonprofit Sector," *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 73, No. 4, pp. 109–10.
- Schraeder, P. J., S.W. Hook, and B. Taylor, 1998, "Clarifying the Foreign Aid Puzzle: A Comparison of American, Japanese, French and Swedish Aid Flows," *World Politics*, Vol. 50, No.2, pp. 294–323.
- Smillie, I., 2000, "NGOs: Crisis and Opportunity in the New World Order," in *Transforming development: Foreign aid for a changing world*, ed. by J. Freedman (Toronto; Buffalo and London: University of Toronto Press).
- United Nations, 2003, "Indicators for Monitoring the Millennium Development Goals: Definitions, Rationale, Concepts and Sources," http://ddp-ext.worldbank.org/ext/MDG/content/pdf/document\_final.pdf.
- Woods, A., 2003, "Facts about European NGOs Active in International Development," Development Centre Studies (Paris and Washington, D.C.: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development).
- Yontcheva, B., 2003, "Hierarchy and Authority in a Dynamic Perspective: A Model Applied to Donor Financing of NGO Proposals," IMF Working Paper 03/157 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Africa	Asia	Western Hemisphere	Middle East
Benin	Bangladesh	Argentina	Algeria
Botswana	Cambodia	Belize	Egypt
Burkina Faso	Fiji	Bolivia	Israel
Burundi	India	Brazil	Jordan
Cameroon	Indonesia	Chile	Lebanon
Cape Verde	Lao PDR	Colombia	Morocco
Central African Rep.	Nepal	Costa Rica	Sudan
Congo, Rep. of	Pakistan	Dominican Republic	Syrian Arab Republic
Côte d'Ivoire	Papua New Guinea	Ecuador	Tunisia
Equatorial Guinea	Philippines	El Salvador	Yemen
Ethiopia	Sri Lanka	Guatemala	
Gambia	Thailand	Haiti	
Ghana	Vietnam	Honduras	
Guinea-Bissau		Mexico	
Kenya		Nicaragua	
Madagascar		Panama	
Malawi		Paraguay	
Mali		Peru	
Mauritius		Trinidad and Tobago	
Mozambique		Uruguay	
Namibia		Venezuela	
Niger			
Nigeria			
Rwanda			
Senegal			
South Africa			
Sudan			
Swaziland			
Tanzania			
Togo			
Tunisia			
Uganda			
Zambia			
Zimbabwe			

# A. Countries in Sample by Region

# **B.** Data Description and Sources

# 1) NGO Aid

Source: European Commission, budget line B7-6000.

The data represent commitments of European Commission to cofinancing NGO projects in a given country in a given year.

# 2) European Union Multilateral Aid

Source: OECD

Total official development assistance committed to a country in a given year by the countries that are part of the European Union.

# 3) National Poverty

Source: *World Development Indicators* Percentage of the population living below the national poverty line. National estimates are based on population-weighted subgroup estimates from household surveys.

### 4) Militarization

Source: *World Development Indicators* Military personnel as percentage of labor force.

# 5) Political Score: Level of Democracy (Overall Polity Score)

Source: Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade In the definition of Polity IV, democracy is conceived as three essential, interdependent elements. One is the presence of institutions and procedures through which citizens can express effective preferences about alternative policies and leaders. Second is the existence of institutionalized constraints on the exercise of power by the executive. Third is the guarantee of civil liberties to all citizens in their daily lives and in acts of political participation. Autocracy is defined operationally in terms of the presence of a distinctive set of political characteristics. In mature form, autocracies sharply restrict or suppress competitive political participation. Their chief executives are chosen in a regularized process of selection within the political elite, and once in office, they exercise power with few institutional constraints.

The Political Score is a global rank based index (nine-point scale) of the Overall Polity Score, where 1 is "strongly democratic" and 9 is "strongly autocratic."

### 6) Imports from the European Union (EU)

Source: World Bank and IMF staff estimates This variable represents the ratio of the recipients' imports from the EU on total imports.

# 7) Population

Source: *World Development Indicators* Population in millions.